
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
Stock Code: 1152

ANNUAL REPORT年報

 1152

A
N

N
U

A
L REPO

RT  年
報
  2013



Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Directors and Senior Management

Corporate Governance

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Five Year Financial Summary

02

04

05

10

13

20

29

31

32

34

35

37

85



Fornton Group Limited  Annual Report 2013

CORPORATE INFORMATION02

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive directors
Mr. Yam Tak Cheung (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy (Managing Director)
Mr. Wong Tat Wai, Derek
Mr. Zheng Qiang (appointed on 16 May 2013)
Mr. Han Hanting (appointed on 16 May 2013)

Non-executive director
Mr. Chan Yee, Herman (appointed on 2 July 2013)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew
Mr. Cheng Dickson
Mr. Sin Ka Man

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL  
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit A, 32nd Floor
Legend Tower
7 Shing Yip Street
Kwun Tong
Kowloon, Hong Kong

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Fong Chu Pong

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy
Flat B, 39/F
Block 1
Clovelly Court
12 May Road
Hong Kong
 
Mr. Fong Chu Pong
Rm 3204, Lei Ting House
Lei On Court, Lam Tin
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BERMUDA RESIDENT REPRESENTATIVE

Codan Services Limited
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Sin Ka Man (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew
Mr. Cheng Dickson

MEMBERS OF THE REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheng Dickson (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew
Mr. Sin Ka Man



 Annual Report 2013  Fornton Group Limited

03CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew (Chairman)
Mr. Cheng Dickson
Mr. Sin Ka Man

BERMUDA PRINCIPAL SHARE 
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
26 Burnaby Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR  
AND TRANSFER OFFICE 

Union Registrars Limited
18/F., Fook Lee Commercial Centre
Town Place, 33 Lockhart Road
Wan Chai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
HSBC Main Building
1 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
11/F, The Centre
99 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., The Lee Gardens
33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.fornton.com

STOCK CODE

1152



Fornton Group Limited  Annual Report 2013

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT04

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Fornton Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am honored to update you on the Group’s position, performance, prospect and present the 
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013.

2013 was still a tough and complicated year for the traditional export-manufacturing industry. Although some positive signals 
on the United States of America (the “USA”) recovery were reported, the consumption sentiment in USA is generally weak and 
the global economic recovery was slow. We believe the prospect of the textile industry will be still in a tough time for a while. 
As a result, our Group recorded a decrease in revenue in 2013 of approximately 27.4% to approximately HK$310.9 million 
and recorded a loss of HK$7.2 million subsequently. It was a first time of our Group to record a loss after listing the shares 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. To cope with the challenges brought by the weak business environment, our 
Group will adopt a more cost-conscious and conservative approach on operations. Meanwhile, the Group will further 
integrate its resources effectively by full implementation of enterprise resources planning system, so as to refine the operational 
management, simplify the work flow and establish the core competitiveness of efficient management. 

As the traditional export-manufacturing industry was facing a tough period in the past few years, the Board had an intention 
to diversify its business scope into finance leasing of coal mining related machineries and equipments in order to mitigate the 
business risk of focusing on one single segment of manufacturing and trading of high quality fashion apparels. Based on an 
industry research report, the Board believed that there is an huge market potential in the finance leasing industry in the 
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and the Company has been taking steps to enter into the industry by conditionally 
agreeing to acquire 8% of equity interest in Shanxi Coking Coal Machinery Electric Co., Ltd. and setting up a wholly foreign-
owned enterprise Shanxi Huawei Finance Leasing Company Limited in the PRC. We are confident that the new finance 
leasing business, together with the existing knitwear business, will form a more strengthened business model and create further 
value for the Group and its shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my appreciation to the management and staff for their dedication, contribution 
and hard work. I wish to also express my gratitude to the business partners and shareholders of the Group for their 
unequivocal support and confidence in the Group.

Yam Tak Cheung
Chairman

28 March 2014
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a knitwear manufacturer established in Hong Kong which manufactures an extensive assortment of knitwear 
products ranging from classically styled wardrobe basis to high quality fashion apparel. Same as previous years, the Group’s 
customers mainly comprise international apparel brand owners headquartered in the USA and European countries such as 
Germany and Switzerland with their products marketed under their own labels and sold around the world.

In 2013, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$310,867,000, showing an decrease of approximately 
22.3% from the 2012’s turnover of approximately HK$400,035,000, which was mainly attributable to an decrease by 
approximately 28.8% in sales orders from one of the major customers of the Group headquartered in the USA. It results 
turnover generated by customers headquartered in the USA decreased from approximately 65.7% to 60.4%. As compared 
with turnover in previous year, turnover generated by customers headquartered in European countries and Canada increased 
from approximately 21.8% to 27.0% and increased from approximately 5.8% to 6.6% respectively, whilst revenue generated 
from other countries decreased from approximately 6.7% to 6.0%.

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 decreased by approximately 28.6% from approximately 
HK$76,046,000 in previous year to HK$54,294,000 in 2013. Moreover, the gross profit margin decreased from 
approximately 19.0% in 2012 to 17.5% in 2013 as a result of worsening of the market conditions and business 
environment, severe competition of the textile industry in Europe and the USA, ongoing increase in labour cost and general 
inflation in the PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$7,189,000 as against a profit of 
approximately HK$13,738,000 for the previous year. It mainly attributable to (i) the decreases in turnover and gross profit 
margin of the Group as a result of the worsening of the market conditions and business environment and the severe 
competition of the textile industry as mentioned above, (ii) an increase in general and administrative expenses in seeking new 
revenue stream to diversify a business risk on single segment of manufacturing and trading of high quality fashion apparels; 
and (iii) an increase in legal and professional fees incurred for the proposed of placing in the shares and the convertible 
bonds of the Company and handling legal case.
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2013, the Group recorded total assets of approximately HK$188,982,000, which were financed by 
equity of approximately HK$132,613,000 and liabilities of approximately HK$56,369,000. The Group had total cash 
and bank balances of approximately HK$84,584,000. The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) of the 
Group increased from 2.46 times as at 31 December 2012 to 2.80 times as at 31 December 2013.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 16 November 2011, the High Court made a judgement (the “Judgement”) in favour of a subsidiary of the Group to 
dismiss a claim from a supplier (the “Supplier”).

On 23 July 2012, the Supplier has filed a notice of appeal against the Judgement (the “Appeal”) and the Appeal was heard 
on 8 March 2013.

On 14 March 2013, the Court of Appeal ordered that the Appeal is allowed and the Judgement is set aside. The Court of 
Appeal also ordered that unless the dispute between the Supplier and the subsidiary of the Group can be settled by other 
means, the dispute should be remitted for a re-trial by another judge. As informed by the District Court on 17 September 
2013, this case has been transferred to the District Court.

Based on the legal advice, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group has meritorious defenses against the Supplier. 
Therefore no provision for this claim has been made in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2013.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has set out the intended use of the net proceeds from the Listing of approximately HK$39,700,000 in the 
section headed “Future plans and use of proceeds” in the Prospectus. Approximately HK$17,300,000 was at the time of the 
Listing allocated to the proposed construction of the new production factory on a piece of land located in Yangwu Village, 
Dalang Town, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (the “Land”). As a result of the disposal of the Land as detailed 
in the announcement of the Company dated 2 March 2012, the Company has reallocated the said HK$17,300,000 to 
general working capital purpose. As at 31 December 2013, the unused proceeds of HK$4,000,000 were deposited in the 
licensed banks in Hong Kong. Set out below is the original intended use of proceeds as set out in the Prospectus, revised 
intended use of proceeds, and the utilised and unutilised amount of the net proceeds as at 31 December 2013:

As at 31 December 2013
Original intended use of 
proceeds

Revised intended use of 
proceeds Net proceeds

Utilised 
amount

Unutilised 
amount

(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)

1 construction of new production 
  factory on the Land

reallocated as general 
  working capital

17.3 17.3 —

2 acquisition of an additional 220 
  sets of computerised knitting 
  machines

remaining unchanged 18.1 14.1 4.0

3 enhancing the Group’s product 
  design and development 
  capabilities and sales and 
  merchandising capabilities

remaining unchanged 1.5 1.5 —

4 developing the enterprise resource 
  planning system of the Group 
  covering various functions

remaining unchanged 0.8 0.8 —

5 the Group’s working capital remaining unchanged 2.0 2.0 —

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales and purchases are principally transacted in US$. With production plants and office located in the PRC and 
Hong Kong, operating expenses of the Group are primarily denominated in HK$, Renminbi or US$. As the HK$ is pegged 
to the US$, the Group does not expect to be exposed to any currency risks in the near term. Moreover, the Group has a 
foreign currency hedging policy to monitor the foreign exchange exposure and has entered into several structured forward 
contracts during the year 2013 to manage the currency exposure. It will also consider further hedging significant foreign 
currency exposure should the need arise.
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08 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has workforce of approximately 1,100 persons including five executive Directors, one 
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors in Hong Kong and the PRC. Remuneration policies of 
the Group were determined with reference to performance, qualification and experience of the staff as well as the operating 
results of the Group and the current market condition with salaries and wages being reviewed on an annual basis. The Group 
also provided discretionary bonus, medical insurance, social security and provident fund to the staff of the Group. Pursuant to 
the written resolution of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) on 11 October 2011, the Company has 
adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of motivating eligible participants. For the year ended 31 
December 2013, no share options were granted by the Company since the adoption of the Scheme.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have other plans for material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD	

Except for investment in subsidiaries, during the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group did not hold any significant 
investment in equity interest in any company.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
AFFILIATED COMPANIES

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and 
affiliated companies.

OUTLOOK

Knitwear Business

The major customers of the Group are well-recognized international apparel brand owner of which products are mainly 
exported to the USA and the European countries. Under the situation of slowing recovery of the global economic, the prospect 
of the textile industry will be still in a tough times for a while. Downward pressure on both the sales volume and selling prices 
of the Group’s product will affect the financial performance in first half year of 2014 continuously. However, compare with 
continuing inflation in Renminbi in last few years, the inflation step of Renminbi presented slight slowdown in first quarter of 
2014. There is a positive effect for reducing manufacturing cost in PRC and  improving the profit margin of our products. In 
meanwhile, the Group will continue to focus on product quality by manufacturing novel, complicated designs to attract new 
customers and cost control.
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Finance Leasing Business

In view of the outlook of the textile industry, the Group intends to diversify its business scope into the finance leasing business 
because of the promising prospect of the finance leasing industry in the PRC. According to the research report in relation to 
the finance leasing industry issued in July 2013 by Orient Finance Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, based on the statistics of 
the World Leasing Yearbook, currently, the market penetration rate of finance leasing of more developed countries is between 
approximately 15% and approximately 30%. In the PRC, despite the continuous increment in the market penetration rate of 
finance leasing in recent years, with approximately 0.17% in 2007 to approximately 4.14% in 2012, it is still lagging far 
behind the average standard of more developed countries and it is conservatively forecasted that the industry will maintain a 
compound growth rate of over 30% in the forthcoming five years. In view of this and of the favorable policy environment, the 
Group considers the finance leasing industry in the PRC has a vast room for development and the diversification into finance 
leasing business will be in the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

To seize this business opportunity, the Group has entered into a transfer agreement on 20 November 2013 to procure 8% 
equity interest in a joint-venture  company, Shanxi Coking Coal Machinery Electric Co., Ltd., and has also set up a wholly 
foreign-owned enterprise Shanxi Huawei Finance Leasing Company Limited in the PRC to carry out the finance leasing 
business. The Group is poised to capture the huge market demand and become a leading professional finance leasing 
company in the PRC in the long run.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yam Tak Cheung (“Mr. Yam”), aged 52, was appointed as executive Director and Chairman of the Board on 11 
October 2011. He is one of the co-founders of the Group. Mr. Yam is primarily responsible for the overall corporate strategic 
planning of the Group. He is a professional investor and has investments in a number of companies whose shares are listed 
on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Yam obtained his bachelor 
degree of Science from the University of Toronto majoring in Computer Science and Actuarial Science in June 1983. Mr. 
Yam is the husband of Madam Wong, brother-in-law of Mr. Wong and a director of Integrated Asset Management (Asia) 
Limited, a substantial shareholding of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Wong Kan Kan Kandy (“Madam Wong”), aged 51, was appointed as executive Director on 11 October 2011 and 
she is one of the co-founders of the Group. Madam Wong has more than 29 years of experience in the management and 
operation of textile and knitting business. In 1983, Madam Wong joined a textile company owned by her father until 1993 
when she resigned from such company and in late 1993/early 1994 commenced her own business together with her 
husband, Mr. Yam, by setting up Fornton Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in 1993. To cope with the business development and to establish a manufacturing 
arm in the PRC, Madam Wong invited her brother and husband to set up Nice Regent Industries Limited (“Nice Regent”), a 
company incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in 1995. Madam Wong is 
primarily responsible for the overall corporate strategic planning and business development of the Group. Madam Wong 
obtained her bachelor degree of Arts from University of Toronto majoring in Commerce in November 1983. Madam Wong 
is the wife of Mr. Yam, sister of Mr. Wong and a director of Ever Rosy Limited, a substantial shareholding of the Company 
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Tat Wai Derek (“Mr. Wong”), aged 44, was appointed as executive Director on 11 October 2011 and he is 
one of the co-founders of the Group. Mr. Wong has more than 18 years of experience in the management and operation of 
textile and knitting business. Since the establishment of Nice Regent in 1995, Mr. Wong has been involved in the overall 
corporate strategic planning and daily management of manufacturing of the Group. Mr. Wong is the brother of Madam 
Wong, brother-in-law of Mr. Yam and a director of Premier Wise Limited, a substantial shareholding of the Company within 
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Zheng Qiang (“Mr. Zheng”), aged 34, has over 10 years of experience in corporate management and business 
development. Mr. Zheng has been an executive director of Heilongjiang Province Heihe City Hua Fu Real Estate Development 
Company Limited (黑龍江省黑河市華富房地產開發有限責任公司) and Heilongjiang Province Heihe Hua Fu Mall Company 
Limited (黑龍江省黑河華富商城有限責任公司).

Mr. Han Hanting (“Mr. Han”), aged 30, has more than 7 years of experience in investment banking industry. He has been 
an investment manager of Fortune Assets Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of China Fortune Group Limited (Stock 
Code: 290) which listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Prior thereto, he was research 
associate in CCB International Securities Limited and debt capital market internship in UBS, Investment Bank. Mr. Han 
obtained his bachelor degree from University of Warwick majoring in Mathematics, Operational Research, Statistics and 
Economics in July 2006.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yee, Herman (“Mr. Chan”), aged 59, is currently an associate of Y.T. Chan & Co., a firm of solicitors, and has 
more than 4 years of experience in the legal sector. He was admitted as solicitor of the High Court in Hong Kong in May 
2011. Prior to his legal career, he was a superintendent in the Hong Kong Police Force and had served the public for over 
36 years. Mr. Chan obtained his bachelor of laws (LLB) degree from the University of London in 2003 and postgraduate 
certificate in laws from City University of Hong Kong in 2005.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wei Hung Andrew, aged 58, was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 11 October 2011. He 
was admitted as Solicitor of the High Court in Hong Kong in January 1982 and has over 30 years of experience in the legal 
sector. Mr. Wang was the Head of Legal and Compliance Department of China Development Bank Corporation Hong Kong 
Branch until September 2011. Before joining China Development Bank Corporation Hong Kong Branch in 2010, he was the 
Partner of the Finance & Projects Group of DLA Piper Hong Kong between the period from 2006 to 2009. Mr. Wang is also 
a Notary Public since 1992. Actively involved in Public Sector Advisory and Statutory Bodies, he is Chairman of Residential 
Care Homes (Elderly Persons) Appeal Board, Chairman of Appeal Tribunal Panel (Buildings), Member of Notaries Public 
Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. Mr. Wang is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and was appointed as an arbitrator 
of the International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission. In 2005, he was invited by former President Bill Clinton to 
participate as a business leader at the Clinton Global Initiative held in New York 2005.

Mr. Cheng Dickson, aged 44, was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 11 October 2011. Mr. Cheng is 
currently an executive director of Mizuho Securities Asia Limited. Prior thereto, he worked in JP Morgan between 1994 and 
1996. In December 1995, he was promoted to TCRM Professional in its Global Markets Department. Between 1996 and 
2000, Mr. Cheng worked in the Securities Lending Department of The Bank of New York, Hong Kong Branch. From 2000 
to 2002, he worked in BOC International Holdings Limited and before he left BOC International Holdings Limited, he was 
the Assistant Vice President of BOCI Asia Limited. On 19 August 2002, he joined ICEA Capital Limited and worked in ICEA 
Capital Limited until 31 October 2005 when he was a Senior Vice President of its Investment Banking Division. Mr. Cheng 
then joined Mitsubishi UFJ Securities (HK) Capital, Limited in November 2005 and he worked there until June 2008 when he 
was an executive director of its Capital Markets Department in the Investment Banking Division. Mr. Cheng has more than 17 
years of experience in investment banking industry. Mr. Cheng obtained his bachelor degree of art in University of Toronto 
majoring in economics in June 1994 and master degree of applied finance in Macquarie University in Australia in November 
2000.

Mr. Sin Ka Man, aged 46, was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 11 October 2011. Mr. Sin has over 
20 years of professional experience in auditing, accounting and financial management for both private and listed 
corporations. He became an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) 
(formerly known as Hong Kong Society of Accountants) in January 1996, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants in July 1997 and a certified practising accountant of the CPA Australia in December 2000. Mr. Sin 
obtained his bachelor degree in Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989, master degree in 
Finance from the University of Strathclyde, the United Kingdom in November 1993 and a master degree in Accounting from 
Curtin University of Technology, Australia in June 1998.

Mr. Sin is currently the company secretary of Huayu Expressway Group Limited (Stock Code: 1823), a company listed on the 
Main Board. Mr. Sin serves as an independent non-executive director of Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (Stock 
Code: 0681), PNG Resources Holdings Limited (formerly known as LeRoi Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 0221), Xtep 
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1368) and Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1106), all of which are 
currently listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior management of the Group

Mr. Fong Chu Pong, aged 33, was appointed as assistant financial controller of the Company in June 2011 and was 
promoted to chief financial officer and the company secretary of the Group in February 2013. He is responsible for the 
financial management, internal control and risk management of the Company. Mr. Fong has over 10 years of experience in 
auditing, accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Group, he has worked in accounting firms specializing in 
assurance and business advisory services for 6 years and subsequently worked as finance manager in a company providing 
telecommunications services until June 2011. Mr. Fong obtained his bachelor degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University in 2003 and became a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 2009.

Ms. Wong Wai Yi, aged 49, was appointed as merchandising director of the Group in October 2012 and responsible for 
leading the Group’s merchandising department. Ms. Wong has over 25 years working experience in fashion industry and 
covering the whole supply chain from manufacturing to retail for both of markets of the USA and European countries. Prior to 
join the Group, she held numerous sales and marketing and general management positions at various knitwear companies 
including Gap International Sourcing (Holdings) Ltd and Jones International Limited. Ms. Wong obtained her honours bachelor 
degree from Wilfrid Laurier University, Canada in 1987.

Ms. Ng Wing Yan, aged 32, design and development manager of the Group, has joined the Group since April 2008. Ms. 
Ng is primarily heading the Design and Development department of the Group and responsible for product design and 
development. She has more than 9 years of experience in the fashion and knitwear industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. 
Ng has held fashion designer position in various companies including knitting manufacturing companies and ladies wear 
retailer. Ms. Ng obtained her bachelor degree of Arts (Honors) majoring in Fashion and Textile from The Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University in October 2009.

Mr. Liu Shi Fa, aged 41, was appointed as supervisor of production department in the production factory at Changping 
Town, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (the “FC Factory”) in July 2009. Mr. Liu is responsible for leading the 
Group’s production department in the FC Factory. Mr. Liu has more than 23 years of experience in the knitwear manufacturing 
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu has held numerous production positions (including production technical director) at 
various knitwear companies.
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The Board and management are committed to achieve high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of 
the Shareholders and to enhance its transparency and accountability. The Group has adopted the practices that has complied 
with all the code provisions as set out in Appendix 14 — Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report 
(“CG Code”) of the Listing Rules. The Group will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the 
conduct and growth of its business. It will review its corporate governance practices regularly to ensure compliance with the 
CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. 
Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of two years. All Directors including the 
Chairman are required to retire from office by rotation and subject to re-election by the Shareholders at annual general 
meeting at least once every 3 years. Under the Company’s Bye-laws, one third of the directors, must retire and be eligible for 
re-election at each annual general meeting. As such, no director has a term of appointment longer than two years. The 
Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant 
to the CG Code and Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all independent non-executive Directors are 
independent. Within the three independent non-executive Directors, at least one of them possesses the appropriate 
professional qualifications, accounting or related financial management expertise.

The members of the Board for the year ended 31 December 2013 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yam Tak Cheung (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy (Managing Director)
Mr. Wong Tat Wai, Derek
Mr. Zheng Qiang (appointed on 16 May 2013)
Mr. Han Hanting (appointed on 16 May 2013)

Non-executive director

Mr. Chan Yee, Herman (appointed on 2 July 2013)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew
Mr. Cheng Dickson
Mr. Sin Ka Man

Mr. Yam Tak Cheung is the spouse of Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy. Mr. Wong Tai Wai, Derek is the brother of Ms. Wong 
Kan Kan, Kandy and the brother-in-law of Mr. Yam Tak Cheung.

The Chairman and Managing Director of the Company are two distinct and separate positions, which are held by Mr. Yam 
Tak Cheung and Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy, respectively, both being executive Directors.
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The Board is responsible for promoting the success of the Group and its business by leading and supervising the Company’s 
affairs. The Board is responsible for determining the Group’s objectives, overall strategies and policies, approving business 
plan, evaluating operating, instilling corporate culture and financial performance. Its role is clearly separated from that of the 
senior management.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day operation responsibility of the Group to executive Directors and senior management. 
In addition, the Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various responsibilities 
as set out in their respective terms of reference. Biographical details of and the relationship between the directors are set out 
in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the formulation of nomination policies, making recommendations to the shareholders for re-
election, providing sufficient and accurate biographical details of directors to enable the Shareholders to make an informed 
decision on the re-election, and where necessary, nominating appropriate persons to fill in causal vacancies or as additions 
to the Board. The Chairman from time to time reviews the composition of the Board with particular regard to ensuring that 
there are an appropriate number of Directors on the Board independent of management. He also identifies and nominates 
qualified individuals for appointment as new Directors. When considering appointment of new Directors, the Board will take 
into consideration of criteria such expertise, experience, integrity and commitment.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the revised CG Code which has come into effect from 1 April 2012, all Directors and company secretary should 
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that 
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 December 2013, all Directors and 
company secretary confirmed that they have complied with the CG Code.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as 
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having 
made specific enquiry of all directors, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard as set 
out in the Model Code regarding securities transactions by the directors during the year ended 31 December 2013.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 11 October 2011 which 
is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Group’s engagement of appropriate directors 
and managerial personnel (including the expertise, experience, integrity and commitment) to complement the Company’s 
corporate objectives and strategies. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee were posted on the Company’s 
website.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company 
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board 
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard 
for the benefits of diversity on the board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including 
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The 
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew, 
Mr. Cheng Dickson and Mr. Sin Ka Man and is chaired by Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Nomination Committee had held one meeting and the Nomination 
Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, and recruitment procedure of Executive Directors 
and senior management.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 11 October 2011 
which is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Group’s policies and structure for 
remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group; determining the remuneration packages of Directors and 
senior management of the Group; and reviewing and approving their performance-based remuneration. The terms of 
reference of the Remuneration Committee were posted on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Cheng Dickson, Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy, Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew 
and Mr. Sin Ka Man and is chaired by Mr. Cheng Dickson.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Remuneration Committee had held one meeting and the Remuneration 
Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and structure relating to Directors and senior management of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) on 11 October 2011 which is primarily 
responsible for overseeing the relationship between the Company and its external auditor in relation to the matters coming 
within the scope of the Group’s audit; reviewing the Group’s financial reporting process, adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control system and risk management system. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee which describe 
the authorities and duties of the Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for the Formation of 
an Audit Committee” published by the HKICPA and were posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Sin Ka Man, Mr. Wang Wei Hung and Mr. Cheng Dickson and is chaired by Mr. Sin 
Ka Man.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee had held three meeting and the Audit Committee reviewed 
the interim and annual results and the interim and annual reports; met with external auditor to ensure appropriate accounting 
principles and practices adopted by the Group; and assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an 
effective system of internal control.
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ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

The Company held Board meetings regularly for at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with at least 14 
days’ notice was given to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notice was 
given. The attendance record for each of the directors at the Board meeting during the year ended 31 December 2013 set 
out below.

Attendance/Number of meetings

Board Audit Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Executive Directors
Mr. Yam Tak Cheung 10/16 — — —
Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy 9/16 — 1/1 —
Mr. Wong Tat Wai, Derek 9/16 — — —
Mr. Zheng Qiang 3/11 — — —
Mr. Han Hanting 11/11 — — —

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yee, Herman 9/10 — — —

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew 10/16 3/3 1/1 1/1
Mr. Cheng Dickson 14/16 3/3 1/1 1/1
Mr. Sin Ka Man 13/16 3/3 1/1 1/1

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge responsibilities for overseeing the preparation of the financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2013 which should give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of the results and cash flows of 
the Group on a going concern basis.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and the auditor’s responsibilities are 
set out in the independent auditor’s report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s internal control system and ensuring that a sound and effective internal 
control system is maintained. The Company has engaged SHINEWING Risk Services Limited (“SHINEWING Risk Services”) 
to conduct review and make recommendations for the improvement and strengthening of the internal control system. 
SHINEWING Risk Services has reviewed the major internal controls and measures, including financial, operational and 
compliance as well as risk management and has made relevant recommendations for improvement of the internal control 
system to the Board. Any material non-compliance or failures in internal controls maintained by the Group and relevant 
recommendations for improvements are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Board has to be fully responsible for the stability and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and with management 
of the Group. It is also responsible for ensuring that recommendations made by the internal audit function and SHINEWING 
Risk Services are properly implemented. The Board recognizes that the Group’s internal control system plays a key role in the 
management of risks, and the assurance of continued compliance with laws and regulations by the Group.

The Audit Committee has kept under review the system of internal control. Based on review undertaken together with reports 
submitted by the management and SHINEWING Risk Services, the Audit Committee will provide the Board with advice on 
the adequacy of the Group’s internal control system, including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of 
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, in order to ensure that an effective internal control system 
is put in place. During the year under review, the Board considers that the Group has complied with the provisions on internal 
controls as stipulated in the CG Code. The Board is satisfied that the Group’s internal control system including financial, 
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions as appropriate to the Group have been put in place and 
that no significant areas of improvement which are required to be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee have been 
revealed.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit and non-audit services provided by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, the external auditor, to 
the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2013 is analysed below:

Type of services provided by the external auditor

Fee
HK$’000

Audit service 780
Non-audit services
  Review of continuing connected transaction 10
  Review of preliminary announcement of results 10
  Acted as tax representative of the Group’s entities 24
  Review of the internal control system of the Group for the year ended 31 December 100
  Acted as reporting accountants of the Group’s circular dated 17 February 2014 
    in connection to a major transaction 400
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HOW SHAREHOLDERS CAN CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING AND 
PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Pursuant to the bye laws of the Company, any one or more Shareholder holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not 
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company 
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the company secretary by mail at Unit A, 
32nd Floor, Legend Tower, 7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, to require a special general meeting to 
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed 
to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the 
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the company secretary by mail at 
Unit A, 32nd Floor, Legend Tower, 7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong or by email at info@fornton.com. 
The company secretary forwards communications relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and 
communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and customer complaints, to the 
managing director of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, there has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

General meeting of the Company provides a communication channel between the Shareholders and the Board that the 
shareholders of the Company are encouraged to participate in the Company’s annual general meeting and any other 
meetings for any enquiries about the Company’s performance.

The Company also maintains a website at www.fornton.com to disseminate information and updates on the Company’s 
business developments and operations, financial information, corporate governance practices and other shareholders 
information to Shareholders as well as investors.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are 
set out in note 35 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal 
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that 
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 31 to 84 of the annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2013.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The result, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, 
are summarized on pages 85 to 86 of this report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial 
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year, together with the reasons therefor, are set out in note 
27 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any Shares during the year ended 31 
December 2013.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial 
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2013, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution and distribution in specie were 
HK$132,613,000. In addition, in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company’s share premium 
account, in the amount of HK$43,607,000, are distributable in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2013.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the percentages of sales and purchases attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers 
were as follows:

(i)	 The aggregate amount of sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented 80.1% of the total sales of 
the Group for the year. The sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer represented 59.9% of the Group’s total 
sales for the year.

(ii)	 The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented 45.1% of the total 
purchases of the Group for the year. The purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier represented 18.7% of 
the Group’s total purchases for the year.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their respective associates nor any substantial shareholders (which, to 
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in 
the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2013 were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yam Tak Cheung (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy (Managing Director)
Mr. Wong Tat Wai, Derek
Mr. Zheng Qiang (appointed on 16 May 2013)
Mr. Han Hanting (appointed on 16 May 2013)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Chan Yee, Herman (appointed on 2 July 2013)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew
Mr. Cheng Dickson
Mr. Sin Ka Man

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, all executive Directors and non-executive Director shall retire from office by 
rotation, and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of two years. In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, 
all of them shall retire from office by rotation, and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the Company’s 
annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 10 to 12 of the annual 
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND REMUNERATION

Mr. Yam Tak Cheung, Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy and Mr. Wong Tat Wai, Derek had renewed a service agreement with 
the Company for a term of two years, commencing from 18 October 2013 with an annual remuneration of approximately 
HK$0.55 million, HK$1.37 million and HK$1.30 million respectively. Mr. Zheng Qiang and Mr. Han Hanting had entered 
into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of two years, commencing from 16 May 2013 with an annual 
remuneration of approximately HK$0.6 million and HK$0.6 million respectively. Either party has the right to give not less than 
three months’ written notice to terminate the respective service agreement. In addition, each of these Directors will be entitled 
to a discretionary bonus to be calculated based on individual performance. Each of these Directors will also be reimbursed 
all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly recurred by him/her in the performance of his/her duties as a director.
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Pursuant to the letter of appointment from the Company to the non-executive Directors dated 2 July 2013, the appointment 
of Mr. Chan Yee, Herman is for an initial term of two years commencing from 2 July 2013 with a director’s fee of 
HK$100,000.

Pursuant to the renewed letter of appointment from the Company to each of the independent non-executive Directors dated 11 
October 2013, the appointment of each of Mr. Wang Wei Hung Andrew, Mr. Cheng Dickson and Mr. Sin Ka Man is for a 
term of two years commencing from 11 October 2013 with a director’s fee of HK$100,000, HK$100,000 and 
HK$100,000 per annum respectively.

The Board has the general power of determining Directors’ remuneration, subject to the authorisation of the Shareholders 
given at the annual general meeting of the Company each year. The remuneration of the executive Directors is subject to the 
review of the Company’s remuneration committee, and their remuneration is determined with reference to directors’ 
qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the independent non-
executive Directors, their remuneration is determined by the Board, upon recommendation of the Company’s remuneration 
committee, with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and results of 
the Group.

Details of Directors’ emoluments during the year are set out in note 15(a) to the financial statements.

Save as aforesaid, none of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a 
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Except for those disclosed in section headed “Connected Transactions” below and note 34 to the financial statements, no 
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted as at the end of the 
year or at anytime during the year ended 31 December 2013.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2013 was the Company, any of its holding companies or any of its 
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, no contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or 
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to the written resolutions of all the shareholders passed on 11 
October 2011. The Scheme operates for purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who make 
contributions to the Group’s operations and profitability. The Company and any of its associate do not grant/exercise any 
share option scheme since the date of the Listing, 28 October 2011.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2013, the interests and/or short positions of directors in the share, the underlying shares or debentures of 
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the 
“SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code 
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

The Company:

Name of director Capacity and nature of interest Number of  Shares held 

Percentage of the 
Company’s issued 

share capital
(Note 1)

Mr. Yam Tak Cheung Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 104,000,000 (L) 25.00
Interest of spouse (Note 3) 104,000,000 (L) 25.00

Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 104,000,000 (L) 25.00
Interest of spouse (Note 5) 104,000,000 (L) 25.00

Mr. Zheng Qiang Interest of controlled corporation (Note 6) 104,000,000 (L) 25.00

Notes:

1.	 The letter “L” denotes a long position in the directors’ interest in the share capital of the Company.

2.	 Mr. Yam Tak Cheung is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Integrated Asset Management (Asia) Limited and 
is deemed to be interested in the 104,000,000 Shares held by Integrated Asset Management (Asia) Limited under the SFO.

3.	 Mr. Yam Tak Cheung is the spouse of Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy and is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Ever Rosy 
Limited.

4.	 Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Ever Rosy Limited and is deemed to be 
interested in the 104,000,000 Shares held by Ever Rosy Limited under the SFO.

5.	 Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy is the spouse of Mr. Yam Tak Cheung and is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Integrated 
Asset Management (Asia) Limited.
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6.	 Mr. Zheng Qiang is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Billion Mission Limited and is deemed to be interested 
in the 104,000,000 Shares held by Billion Mission Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor the 
chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of 
the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or 
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company had a continuing connected transaction, details of which are disclosed in accordance with the requirements of 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the announcement dated 4 December 2013 in respect of the renewal of existing lease agreement, as 
the existing lease agreement of headquarter expired on 30 November 2013, the Group entered into a new tenancy 
agreement (the “Headquarter Tenancy Agreement”) with Long Rise Investment Development Limited (“Long Rise”), pursuant to 
which the Group agreed to lease from Long Rise all that Unit A, 32nd Floor, Legend Tower, 7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong with the total gross area of 8,887 ft2 as the headquarter of the Company in Hong Kong. The term of 
the Headquarter Tenancy Agreement is for three years commencing from 1 December 2013. The annual rent is 
HK$2,700,000, exclusive of rates, Government rent and management fees. The Directors estimate that the annual rent 
payable by the Group to Long Rise for each of the three years commencing on 1 January 2015 will not exceed the annual 
cap of approximately HK$2,700,000. In the event that the Headquarter Tenancy Agreement is renewed, the relevant Listing 
Rules will be complied with. The rent payable to Long Rise by the Group was determined on an arm’s length basis with 
reference to the prevailing market rent.

Details of the continuing connected transactions are disclosed in note 32(b) of the financial statements.

Based on the relevant annual cap stated above for the Headquarter Tenancy Agreement, the Directors, at the date of entering 
into the Headquarter Tenancy Agreement, expect that the consideration ratio, being the only applicable percentage ratio 
mentioned in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules, will on an annual basis be either less than 5% or less than 25% and the annual 
consideration is less than HK$10,000,000. Therefore, the transactions contemplated under the Headquarter Tenancy 
Agreement are not subject to independent Shareholders’ approval requirements but are subject to reporting and 
announcement requirements contained in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transaction and confirmed that it has 
been entered into by the Company in the ordinary course of its business, on normal commercial terms/on terms no less 
favorable than terms available from independent third parties, and in accordance with the terms of the agreement governing 
such transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the auditor of 
the Company to report on the above continuing connected transaction for the year ended 31 December 2013 in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagement 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing 
its findings and conclusions in respect of the transaction disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the 
Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of notes 32(a) of the financial statements do not constitute connected transactions or 
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the 
Company or any other body corporate granted to any director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such 
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors, 
their respective spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company were 
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position:

Name of Shareholders Capacity and nature of interest
Number of ordinary 

shares held 

Percentage of the 
Company’s issued 

share capital
(Note 1)

Integrated Asset Management
  (Asia) Limited (Note 2) Beneficial interest 104,000,000 (L) 25.00
Ever Rosy Limited (Note 3) Beneficial interest 104,000,000 (L) 25.00
Billion Mission Limited (Note 4) Beneficial interest 104,000,000 (L) 25.00
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Notes:

1.	 The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the share capital of the Company.

2.	 Mr. Yam Tak Cheung is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Integrated Asset Management (Asia) Limited and 
is deemed to be interested in the 104,000,000 shares held by Integrated Asset Management (Asia) Limited under the SFO.

3.	 Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Ever Rosy Limited and is deemed to be 
interested in the 104,000,000 shares held by Ever Rosy Limited under the SFO.

4.	 Mr. Zheng Qiang is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Billion Mission Limited and is deemed to be interested 
in the 104,000,000 shares held by Billion Mission Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, no person, other than a Director, whose interests are set out under the 
section headed “Directors’ interests and short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or 
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to 
Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors as at the date 
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules as all 
times up to the date of this report (being the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices of the Company and the Group are set out in the Corporate Governance of this 
Annual Report.

OTHER MATTERS

(i)	 On 13 January 2014, Sino Top entered into four letters of intent with four independent third parties in relation to the 
proposed finance leasing of coal mining related equipments with aggregate value of approximately HK$671,950,000 
to be leased to them. Details of which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 13 January 2014.

(ii)	 On 14 January 2014, the Group has established a wholly foreign owned enterprise (“WFOE”) named 山西華威融資
租賃有限公司 (Shanxi Huawei Finance Leasing Company Limited*) in the PRC. The principal activity of the WFOE is 
engaged in finance leasing business in the PRC. The registered capital of the WFOE is US$35,000,000 which is 
required to be paid up in full by 14 July 2014.
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(iii)	 On 17 February 2014, the Company announced:

(a)	 a proposed share subdivision and change of board lot size by the way of subdivision of each of the issued and 
unissued shares of HK$0.01 in the share capital of the Company into two shares of HK$0.005 each. Upon the 
Share Subdivision becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the Company will be changed from 
HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided into 
20,000,000,000 subdivided shares of HK$0.005 each. The issued and fully paid shares will be changed from 
HK$4,160,000 divided into 416,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$4,160,000 divided into 
832,000,000 subdivided shares of HK$0.005 each.

Upon the share subdivision becoming effective, the traded board lot size of the Company will be changed from 
4,000 shares to 2,000 subdivided shares.

(b)	 a proposed placing of 300,000,000 new shares at HK$1.00 per share and placing of convertible bonds of 
approximately HK$900,000,000.

(c)	 a proposed investment of 8% equity interest in an unlisted entity at a consideration of approximately 
HK$187,355,000.

The shareholders of the Company approved the above proposals during a special general meeting of the Company 
held on 5 March 2014.

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for their 
reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Yam Tak Cheung
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2014
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TO THE MEMBERS OF FORNTON GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fornton Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 31 to 84, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of Profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. 
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 
December 2013, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Wong Hon Kei, Anthony
Practising Certificate Number: P05591

Hong Kong
28 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2013

31

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 9 310,867 400,035
Cost of sales (256,573) (323,989)

Gross profit 54,294 76,046
Other operating income 9 4,240 5,457
Selling and distribution expenses (9,441) (9,567)
Administrative and other expenses (56,118) (53,361)
Finance costs 11 (350) (641)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (7,375) 17,934
Income tax credit/(expense) 12 186 (4,196)

(Loss)/profit for the year 13 (7,189) 13,738

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 
  and total other comprehensive income 561 565

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (6,628) 14,303

(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents)
  Basic and diluted 14 (0.86) 1.65
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As at 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
  Plant and equipment 17 31,633 41,633
  Deposit paid for acquisition of plant and equipment 2,036 2,276

33,669 43,909

Current assets
  Inventories 18 22,960 21,358
  Trade and other receivables 19 44,857 50,327
  Derivative financial instruments 20 — 550
  Tax recoverable 2,912 —
  Pledged bank deposits 21 — 3,000
  Bank balances and cash 21 84,584 87,215

155,313 162,450

Current liabilities
  Trade and other payables 22 36,396 38,731
  Amount due to a director 23 565 1,047
  Bank borrowings 24 18,045 25,831
  Obligations under finance leases — due within one year 25 244 231
  Income tax payables 234 271

55,484 66,111

Net current assets 99,829 96,339

Total assets less current liabilities 133,498 140,248

Non-current liabilities
  Obligations under finance leases — due after one year 25 709 953
  Deferred taxation 26 176 54

885 1,007

132,613 139,241
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33CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves
  Share capital 27 4,160 4,160
  Reserves 128,453 135,081

132,613 139,241

The consolidated financial statements on pages 31 to 84 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors 
on 28 March 2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yam Tak Cheung Wong Kan Kan, Kandy
Director Director
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Other 
reserve

Exchange 
translation 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note)

At 1 January 2012 4,160 43,607 9,943 2,660 64,568 124,938

Profit for the year — — — — 13,738 13,738
Other comprehensive income for the year: 
  Exchange difference arising 
    on translation of foreign operations — — — 565 — 565

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — 565 13,738 14,303

At 31 December 2012 4,160 43,607 9,943 3,225 78,306 139,241

Loss for the year — — — — (7,189) (7,189)
Other comprehensive income for the year: 
  Exchange difference arising 
    on translation of foreign operations — — — 561 — 561

Total comprehensive expense for the year — — — 561 (7,189) (6,628)

At 31 December 2013 4,160 43,607 9,943 3,786 71,117 132,613

Note:	Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the issued capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group 
organisation over the consideration paid for acquiring these subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
For the year ended 31 December 2013

35

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
  (Loss)/profit before taxation (7,375) 17,934
  Adjustments for:
    Amortisation of prepaid lease payment — 55
    Loss on change in fair value of derivative financial instruments — 150
    Depreciation of plant and equipment 12,900 12,510
    Finance costs 350 641
    Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (14) (289)
    Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payment — (1,920)
    Government grant — (107)
    Bank interest income (478) (190)
    Net investment income from derivative financial instruments (1,602) (1,603)

  Operating cashflows before movements in working capital 3,781 27,181
  (Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,602) 5,629
  Decrease in trade and other receivables 9,286 2,355
  (decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (2,446) 6,743

  Cash generated from operations 9,019 41,908
  Income tax paid (2,641) (4,526)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 6,378 37,382

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Purchase of investment deposits (3,816) —
  Acquisition of plant and equipment (1,854) (2,197)
  Deposit paid for acquisition of plant and equipment (278) (2,276)
  Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 3,000 —
  Receipt from settlement of derivative financial instruments 2,152 1,603
  Interest received 478 190
  Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 14 528
  Proceed from disposal of prepaid lease payment — 16,072

NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (304) 13,920
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Repayments of bank borrowings (7,786) (7,785)
  Repayment to a director (482) (2,593)
  Interest paid (350) (641)
  Repayment of obligations under finance leases (231) (442)
  Repayment to a related party — (711)
  Proceeds from government grant — 107

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (8,849) (12,065)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,775) 39,237

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 87,215 47,975

EFFECT ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES CHANGES 144 3

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR, 
  represented by bank balances and cash 84,584 87,215
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37

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Fornton Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and 
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address of the registered office and principal 
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 
35.

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollars (“US$”). The consolidated financial statements is 
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) as the operation of its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are 
mainly based in Hong Kong.

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and 
  HKFRS 12

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure 
  of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
HK (IFRIC) * — Interpretation (“Int”) 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

* IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee.

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised HKFRSs in current year has had no material impact 
on the Group’s financial performance and position for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in 
these consolidated financial statements.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and 
disclosures

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the package of five standards on consolidation, joint 
arrangements, associates and disclosures comprising HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, HKFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements, HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial 
Statements and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, together with the 
amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 regarding transitional guidance.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) is not applicable to the Group as it deals only with separate financial statements.

The impact of the application of these standards is set out below.

Impact on the application of HKFRS 10

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated 
financial statements and HK (SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 changes the definition of 
control such that an investor controls an investee when (a) it has power over an investee, (b) it is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and (c) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. All 
three of these criteria must be met for an investor to have control over an investee. Previously, control was defined as 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
Additional guidance has been included in HKFRS 10 to explain when an investor has control over an investee.

The directors of the Company made an assessment as at the date of initial application of HKFRS 10 (i.e. 1 January 
2013) as to whether or not the Group has control over its investees in accordance with the new definition of control 
and the related guidance set out in HKFRS 10. The directors of the Company concluded that the initial application of 
HKFRS 10 has no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. Upon the 
adoption of the amendments to HKAS 1, the Group’s “statement of comprehensive income” is renamed as the “statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”. Furthermore, the amendments to HKAS 1 require additional 
disclosures to be made in the other comprehensive income section such that items of other comprehensive income are 
grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may 
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other 
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same basis — the amendments do not change the option to 
present items of other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax. The amendments have been applied 
retrospectively, and hence the presentation of items of other comprehensive income has been modified to reflect the 
changes. Other than the above mentioned presentation changes, the application of the amendments to HKAS 1 does 
not result in any impact on profit or loss, other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle2

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments3

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts4

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures3

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and 
  HKAS 27 Investment Entities1

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans — Employee Contributions2

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities1

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets1

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies1

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with earlier application permitted.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with earlier application permitted.
3	 HKFRS 9, as amended in December 2013, amended the mandatory effective date of HKFRS 9. The mandatory effective date 

is not specified in HKFRS 9 but will be determined when the outstanding phases are finalised. However, application of HKFRS 
9 is permitted.

4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which 
are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 2 (i) change the definitions of “vesting condition” and “market condition”; and (ii) add 
definitions for “performance condition” and “service condition” which were previously included within the definition of 
“vesting condition”. The amendments to HKFRS 2 are effective for share-based payment transactions for which the grant 
date is on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability should be 
measured at fair value at each reporting date, irrespective of whether the contingent consideration is a financial 
instrument within the scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39 or a non-financial asset or liability. Changes in fair value (other 
than measurement period adjustments) should be recognised in profit and loss. The amendments to HKFRS 3 are 
effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 July 2014.

The amendments to HKFRS 8 (i) require an entity to disclose the judgements made by management in applying the 
aggregation criteria to operating segments, including a description of the operating segments aggregated and the 
economic indicators assessed in determining whether the operating segments have “similar economic characteristics”; 
and (ii) clarify that a reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets should only be 
provided if the segment assets are regularly provided to the chief operating decision-maker.

The amendments to the basis for conclusions of HKFRS 13 clarify that the issue of HKFRS 13 and consequential 
amendments to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 9 did not remove the ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with 
no stated interest rate at their invoice amounts without discounting, if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 remove perceived inconsistencies in the accounting for accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation when an item of property, plant and equipment or an intangible asset is revalued. The 
amended standards clarify that the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of the 
carrying amount of the asset and that accumulated depreciation/amortisation is the difference between the gross 
carrying amount and the carrying amount after taking into account accumulated impairment losses.

The amendments to HAKS 24 clarify that a management entity providing key management personnel services to a 
reporting entity is a related party of the reporting entity. Consequently, the reporting entity should disclose as related 
party transactions the amounts incurred for the service paid or payable to the management entity for the provision of key 
management personnel services. However, disclosure of the components of such compensation is not required.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments included in the Annual 
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle will have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which 
are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify that the standard does not apply to the accounting for the formation of all types of 
joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.

The amendments to HKFRS 13 clarify that the scope of the portfolio exception for measuring the fair value of a group of 
financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis includes all contracts that are within the scope of, and accounted 
for in accordance with, HKAS 39 or HKFRS 9, even if those contracts do not meet the definitions of financial assets or 
financial liabilities within HKAS 32.

The amendments to HKAS 40 clarify that HKAS 40 and HKFRS 3 are not mutually exclusive and application of both 
standards may be required. Consequently, an entity acquiring investment property must determine whether:

(a)	 the property meets the definition of investment property in terms of HKAS 40; and

(b)	 the transaction meets the definition of a business combination under HKFRS 3.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments included in the Annual 
Improvements to HKFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle will have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 
9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include the requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities and for derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for hedge accounting. 
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

•	 All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are 
held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured 
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments and equity investments 
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities 
may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is 
not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or 
loss.

•	 With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the 
credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of 
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting 
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in the financial 
liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the 
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was presented in 
profit or loss.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting. However, greater 
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the 
types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are 
eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of 
an “economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced 
disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future will not have significant impact on 
amounts currently reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 Investment Entities

The amendments to HKFRS 10 introduce an exception to consolidating subsidiaries for an investment entity, except 
where the subsidiaries provide services that relate to the investment entity’s investment activities. Under the amendments 
to HKFRS 10, an investment entity is required to measure its interests in subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 Investment Entities (Continued)

To qualify as an investment entity, certain criteria have to be met. Specifically, an entity is required to:

•	 obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing them with professional investment 
management services;

•	 commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, 
investment income, or both; and

•	 measure and evaluate performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

Consequential amendments to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 have been made to introduce new disclosure requirements for 
investment entities.

The amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2014, with early application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the amendments will have no effect on the Group as the 
Company is not an investment entity.

The directors of the Company anticipated that the application of other new and revised standards, amendments or 
interpretation would have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In 
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial information of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in 
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on combination.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is carried on the statement of financial position of the Company at cost less impairment. 
Provision for impairment in a subsidiary is made when the recoverable amount of the subsidiary is lower than the 
Company’s respective cost of investment.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of plant and equipment less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. 
However, when there is no reasonable certainly that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets 
are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted 
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at 
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the two categories, including financial assets at FVTPL and loans 
and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a 
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the 
net carrying amount on the initial recognition.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method (Continued)
Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified 
as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL has two subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and those designated as at 
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

— 	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

— 	 on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

— 	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

— 	 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

— 	 the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and 
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

— 	 it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at 
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised 
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is included in the other gains and losses line item in the 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income statement.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, pledged 
bank deposits, and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less any 
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period. 
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets 
have been affected.

For financial assets other than those at FVTPL, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•	 breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

•	 disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a 
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of 
delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period of 0–45 days, observable changes in national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset 
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due to a director, bank borrowings and obligations 
under finance leases are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premium or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest expenses are recognised on an 
effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequent 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 
the Group neither transfer nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises 
an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and 
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalent consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above.
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Impairment losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is 
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised as income immediately.

Revenue recognition

(i)	 Sale of goods
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts 
receivable for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts, sales returns and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed, at which time all 
the following conditions are satisfied:

•	 the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

•	 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•	 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

•	 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits received from customers prior to meeting the above criteria on revenue recognition are included in the 
consolidated statements of financial position under current liabilities.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)	 Interest income
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on 
a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease 
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in 
the consolidated statements of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) 
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contribution.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “(loss)/profit before 
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it 
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in to profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the 
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the exchange translation 
reserve). Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity under the heading of exchange translation reserve.
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Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they become receivable.

4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are 
required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Depreciation of plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account 
their estimated residual values. The determination of the useful lives and residual values involve management’s 
estimation. The Group assesses annually the residual value and the useful life of the plant and equipment and if the 
expectation differs from the original estimate, such a difference may impact the depreciation in the year and the 
estimate will be changed in the future period.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of plant and equipment

The impairment loss for plant and equipment is recognised for the amounts by which the carrying amounts exceed their 
recoverable amounts, in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of plant and 
equipment have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates 
such as the future revenue with a stable growth rate and a suitable discount rate. No impairment loss was recognised 
during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect of trade receivables

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and adjusts credit limits based on payment history and 
the customer’s current credit-worthiness, as determined by the review of their current credit information. The Group 
continuously monitors collections and payments from its customers and maintains a provision for estimated credit losses 
based upon its historical experience. Credit losses have historically been within the Group’s expectations and the 
Group will continue to monitor the collections from customers and maintain an appropriate level of estimated credit 
losses. The carrying amounts of trade receivables were approximately HK$27,811,000 at 31 December 2013 (2012: 
HK$44,026,000). No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

Estimated allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews an aging analysis at the end of the reporting period, and makes allowance for 
obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. The management estimates the 
net realisable value for such raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods based primarily on the latest invoice 
prices and current market conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis at the 
end of each reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items. The carrying amounts of 
inventories were approximately HK$22,960,000 at 31 December 2013 (2012: HK$21,358,000). No impairment 
loss was recognised during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

5.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts which include the bank borrowings in note 24, obligations under 
finance leases in note 25, and net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the Company, 
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the 
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and take appropriate actions 
to adjust the Group’s capital structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will 
balance its overall capital structure through the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt and new share 
issues.
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6.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including bank balances and cash) 127,608 138,221

Derivative financial instruments — 550

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 46,372 65,330

7.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, derivative financial instruments, pledged 
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, amount due to a director, bank borrowings and 
obligations under financial leases. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks 
associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The directors of the Company manage and monitor 
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. There has been no 
material change to the Group’s exposure to financial risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Market risk

Currency risk
The Group believe that the pegged rate between US$ and HK$ will be materially unaffected by any changes in the 
value of US$ against other currencies. In this respect, the Group considers its exposure to foreign currency risk in 
respect of HK$ to be insignificant.

The Group has foreign currency operation, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The currency giving rise to 
this risk is primarily RMB.
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7.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the 
reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Renminbi (“RMB”) 1,521 1,083 11,077 15,985

The management monitors foreign exchange exposure by using structured forward contracts to manage and hedge 
significant foreign currency exposures. Such structured forward contracts are not accounted for under hedge accounting 
(see note 20 for details).

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in US$ against RMB. 5% is the 
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes 
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting 
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss (2012: 
increase in post-tax profit) where US$ strengthen 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of US$ against 
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss (2012: profit), and the balances below 
would be negative. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

RMB

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Impact on post-tax loss for the year 399 N/A
Impact on post-tax profit for the year N/A 622

This is mainly attributable to the exposure on outstanding other receivables and trade and other payables denominated 
in RMB at the end of the reporting period.

For the outstanding structured forward contracts, if the market forward exchange rate of US$ against RMB had been 5% 
higher/lower, post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 would be decreased by approximately 
HK$7,723,000/increased by approximately HK103,000 as a result of the changes in the market forward exchange 
rate of US$ against RMB.
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Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
The Group does not expose to currency risk relating to structured forward contracts as at 31 December 2013.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year 
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate obligations under finance leases (see note 
25 for details). The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors 
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary action when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 24 for 
details of these borrowings). It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise 
the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s investment deposits, pledged bank deposits and bank balances are short-term in nature and the exposure 
of the interest rate risk is minimal.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments 
at the end of reporting period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of 
liability outstanding at the end of reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or 
decrease is used for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: 50 basis points) when reporting interest rate risk 
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower for the year and all other variables were held constant, the 
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2013 would decrease/increase by approximately 
HK$75,000 (2012: HK$108,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 
on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the year end exposure 
does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to the failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties provided by the Group is arising from the 
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statements of financial 
position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination 
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover 
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the 
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the 
management of the Company considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because majority of the funds are deposited in banks with high credit ratings 
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk of trade receivables, as 64% of the total trade receivables at 31 December 
2013 was due from the Group’s largest customer (2012: 57%) and 86% of the total trade receivables at 31 December 
2013 was due from the five largest trade customers (2012: 70%).

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the United States of America (the “USA”), 
which accounted for 65% of the total trade receivables at 31 December 2013 (2012: 60%).

Liquidity risk

In management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 
Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on 
the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment 
on demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise 
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The 
table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted 
cashflows on interest are estimated based on interest rates at the end of the reporting period, and therefore subject to 
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the 
reporting period.
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Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2013

Within one 
year or on 

demand

More than 
one year less 

than two 
years

More than 
two years 

less than five 
years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 26,809 — — 26,809 26,809
Amount due to a director 565 — — 565 565
Bank borrowings 18,045 — — 18,045 18,045
Obligations under finance leases 283 283 472 1,038 953

45,702 283 472 46,457 46,372

At 31 December 2012

Within one 
year or on 

demand

More than 
one year less 

than two 
years

More than 
two years 

less than five 
years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 37,268 — — 37,268 37,268
Amount due to a director 1,047 — — 1,047 1,047
Bank borrowings 26,130 — — 26,130 25,831
Obligations under finance leases 283 283 755 1,321 1,184

64,728 283 755 65,766 65,330

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “within 1 year or on demand” time band in the 
above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2013, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans 
amounted to approximately HK$10,259,000 (2012: HK$18,045,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial 
position, the directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand 
immediate repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid more than one year but not exceeding 
five years after the reporting date in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At 
that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to approximately HK$10,366,000 (2012: 
HK$18,339,000).
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7.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to 
change in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

8.	 FAIR VALUE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is determined in accordance 
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates from observable 
current market transactions as input.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of current financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values due to their short-
term maturities.

The directors of the Company also consider that the fair value of the long-term portion of liabilities approximates to their 
carrying amount as they are carried at amortised cost by using the effective interest method.

As at 31 December 2012, the fair value of the derivative financial instruments of the Group amounted to approximated 
HK$550,000 is categorised in to Level 2 to the fair value measurement as set out in note 3. The fair value is derived 
from a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk 
of counterparties.
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9.	 TURNOVER AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Turnover represents the net amounts received and receivable for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of 
discounts, sales returns and sales related taxes.

Analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover
  Sales of knitted products 310,867 400,035

Other operating income
  Interest income 478 190
  Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 14 289
  Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payment — 1,920
  Net investment income from derivative financial instruments 1,602 1,603
  Sales of scrapped materials 1,800 1,163
  Government grant (Note) — 107
  Sundry income 346 185

4,240 5,457

Note:	During the year ended 31 December 2012, a one-off government grant of approximately HK$107,000 has been recognised 
which was designated for the Group’s contribution to the environment improvement in Guangdong Province, the People 
Republic of China (the “PRC”). All conditions in respect of the grant had been fulfilled and such government grant was 
recognised in other operating income for the year ended 31 December 2012.

10.	SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is engaged in a single segment, the production and trading of knitwear. Operating segments are reported 
in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating 
decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the board of directors as they collectively make strategic decision in allocating the Group’s resources 
and assessing performance.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group’s customers are mainly located in the United States of America (the “USA”), Europe and Canada.
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10.	SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers based on their geographical location is detailed below:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

USA 187,765 262,715
Europe 83,975 87,381
Canada 20,540 23,002
Others 18,587 26,937

310,867 400,035

Less than 1% of the Group’s revenue from external customers is derived from Hong Kong (country of domicile) during the 
years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

The Group’s information about its non-current assets based on geographical location of the assets is detailed below:

Non-current assets

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 5,406 5,187
The PRC 28,263 38,722

33,669 43,909

Information about major customers

Details of the customers accounting for 10% or more of aggregate revenue of the Group during the year are as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 181,832 255,262
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11.	FINANCE COSTS

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expenses on:
  — bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years 296 425
  — trust receipt loans 2 175
  — obligations under finance leases 52 41

350 641

12.	INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:
  Hong Kong Profits Tax 111 3,858
  PRC Enterprise Income Tax — 378

111 4,236

Overprovision in prior years:
  Hong Kong Profits Tax (419) —

Deferred taxation (note 26) 122 (40)

(186) 4,196

(i)	 Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated profit for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: 
16.5%).

(ii)	 Dongguan Fung Ching Knitting Limited* (“Fung Ching”) (東莞豐正針織有限公司) is a wholly-owned foreign 
investment enterprise and is entitled to tax concessions whereby the profit for the first two financial years 
beginning on 1 January 2008 is exempted from income tax in the PRC and the profit for each of the subsequent 
three years is taxed at 50% of the prevailing tax rate set by the PRC government (the “Tax Exemption”).
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12.	INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

Fung Ching is exempted from PRC Enterprise Income Tax from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2009 and the 
applicable rate from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012 is 12.5%.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the relevant tax rate adopted by Fung Ching is 25%.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before taxation per the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) profit before taxation (7,375) 17,934

Tax at domestic income tax rate of 16.5% (2012: 16.5%) (1,217) 2,959
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax purposes 1,623 1,911
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (238) (600)
Effect of different tax rate of a subsidiary operating in other jurisdiction 65 (74)
Over provision in prior years (419) —

Income tax (credit) expense for the year (186) 4,196

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 26.

* 	 The English name is for identification purpose only.



Fornton Group Limited  Annual Report 2013

64 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2013

13.	(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/profit for the year has been arrived at after charging :

Directors’ emoluments (note 15) 4,370 3,458
Salaries and allowances (excluding directors’ emoluments) 25,790 25,121
Retirement benefit scheme contributions (excluding directors) 914 843

Total staff costs 31,074 29,422

Auditor’s remuneration 780 760
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment — 55
Cost of inventories recognised 256,573 323,989
Depreciation of plant and equipment 12,900 12,510
Loss on change in fair value of derivative financial instruments — 150
Net exchange loss 538 1,260
Operating lease rental paid in respect of rented — office premises 6,363 5,331
Processing fees (note) 50,036 45,746
Sub-contracting fee (included in cost of sales) 59,461 82,391

Note:

The processing fees include the following components in accordance with the processing agreement:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances 17,814 15,197

Factory’s lease 2,133 1,752
Labour cost — direct and indirect 27,007 25,534
Utilities 3,082 3,263

32,222 30,549

50,036 45,746
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14.	(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/earnings
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share (7,189) 13,738

2013 2012
’000 ’000

(restated)

Number of shares
Weighted average number ordinary shares for the purpose of 
  basic (loss)/earnings per share 832,000 832,000

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 
31 December 2013 and 2012 has been adjusted for the subdivision of shares as approved by the Company’s 
shareholders on 5 March 2014.

The diluted (loss)/earnings per share is equal to the basic (loss)/earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential 
ordinary shares during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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15.	DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments

Details of emoluments paid and payable to the directors of the Company for the year are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2013

Fees

Salaries and 
other 

allowances

Performance 
related 

incentive 
payments

Retirement 
benefit 
scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:
  Ms. Wong Kan Kan, Kandy 
    (“Ms. Wong”) — 1,361 7 15 1,383
  Mr. Yam Tak Cheung (“Mr. Yam”) — 540 7 15 562
  Mr. Wong Tat Wai (“Mr. Wong”) — 1,281 7 15 1,303
  Mr. Zheng Qiang (appointed on 
    16 May 2013) — 376 — 10 386
  Mr. Han Hanting (appointed on 
    16 May 2013) — 376 — 10 386

Non-executive directors:
  Mr. Chan Yee, Herman 
  (appointed on 2 July 2013) 50 — — — 50

Independent non-executive directors :
  Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew 100 — — — 100
  Mr. Cheng Dickson 100 — — — 100
  Mr. Sin Ka Man 100 — — — 100

350 3,934 21 65 4,370
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15.	DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2012

Fees

Salaries and 
other 

allowances

Performance 
related 

incentive 
payments (note)

Retirement 
benefit scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:
  Ms. Wong — 1,351 7 14 1,372
  Mr. Yam — 520 7 14 541
  Mr. Wong — 1,224 7 14 1,245

Independent non-executive directors:
  Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew 100 — — — 100
  Mr. Cheng Dickson 100 — — — 100
  Mr. Sin Ka Man 100 — — — 100

300 3,095 21 42 3,458

Ms. Wong is the Chief Executive of the Company and her emoluments disclosed above include those for services 
rendered by her as the Chief Executive.

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2013 
and 2012.

Note:	The performance related incentive payments are determined with reference to the operating results and individual 
performance during the year.
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15.	DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two were directors of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Two). The emoluments of these directors are included in the disclosures in 
note 15(a) above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2012: three) individuals were as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other allowances 2,983 3,121
Performance related incentive payments (Note) 111 315
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 30 28

3,124 3,464

Note:	The performance related incentive payments are determined with reference to the operating results and individual 
performance during both years.

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2013 2012

Not more than HK$1,000,000 1 —
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 2 3

3 3

During the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to 
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as inducements to join or upon joining the Group or as a 
compensation for loss of office.

16.	DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been declared by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).
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17.	PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and 
machinery

Office 
equipment

Furniture 
and fixtures

Leasehold 
improve-

ment
Motor 

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2012 58,114 12,758 2,188 3,319 3,285 79,664
Additions 695 1,716 5 400 1,511 4,327
Disposals (293) (45) — — (1,168) (1,506)
Written-off — (2) — — — (2)
Exchange realignment 751 16 27 — — 794

At 31 December 2012 59,267 14,443 2,220 3,719 3,628 83,277
Additions 328 529 — 790 725 2,372
Disposal (157) (125) — — — (282)
Exchange realignment 899 19 33 — — 951

At 31 December 2013 60,337 14,866 2,253 4,509 4,353 86,318

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2012 14,080 10,878 1,883 849 2,432 30,122
Provided for the year 10,401 799 91 690 529 12,510
Eliminated on disposals (293) (39) — — (935) (1,267)
Eliminated on written-off — (2) — — — (2)
Exchange realignment 246 8 27 — — 281

At 31 December 2012 24,434 11,644 2,001 1,539 2,026 41,644
Provided for the year 10,662 891 76 792 479 12,900
Eliminated on disposal (157) (125) — — — (282)
Exchange realignment 380 11 32 — — 423

At 31 December 2013 35,319 12,421 2,109 2,331 2,505 54,685

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2013 25,018 2,445 144 2,178 1,848 31,633

At 31 December 2012 34,833 2,799 219 2,180 1,602 41,633
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17.	PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(i)	 The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery	 20%
Office equipment	 20%
Furniture and fixtures	 10% to 20%
Leasehold improvement	 Over the shorter of term of the lease or 5 years
Motor vehicles	 20%

(ii)	 The carrying values of motor vehicles as at 31 December 2013 included an amount of approximately 
HK$1,107,000 in respect of assets under finance leases (2012: HK$1,409,000).

18.	INVENTORIES

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 4,804 4,838
Work-in-progress 14,487 13,886
Finished goods 3,669 2,634

22,960 21,358

19.	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 27,811 44,026
Other receivables 10,267 3,980
Investment deposits (note iv) 3,816 —
Prepayment 2,963 2,321

44,857 50,327

(i)	 The Group generally allows an average credit period of 0–45 days to its trade customers. The Group does not 
hold any collateral over these balances.



 Annual Report 2013  Fornton Group Limited

71NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2013

19.	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(ii)	 An aged analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment loss recognised presented based on the invoice date at 
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 45 days 27,794 40,717
46 to 90 days 12 2,721
91 to 365 days — 48
Over 365 days 5 540

27,811 44,026

(iii)	 At the end of the reporting period, the analysis of trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired and 
past due but not impaired are as follows:

Past due but not impaired

Total

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
Less than 45 

days
46 to 90 

days
91 to 365 

days
Over 365 

days
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2013 27,811 25,664 2,130 12 1 4
At 31 December 2012 44,026 41,912 1,492 34 48 540

No impairment loss is provided for the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired because these 
receivables are within credit period granted to the respective customers and the management considers the 
default rate is low for such receivables based on historical information and past experience.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. In view of the good settlement 
history from those receivables of the Group which are past due but not impaired for the year, the directors of the 
Company consider that no allowance is required.

(iv)	 As at 31 December 2013, the Group purchased investment deposits from a domestic bank with good credit 
rating and the deposits carry a variable return of a cap of 5.7% per annum.
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19.	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(v)	 Included in other receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position are mainly the following amounts 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 1,521 1,083

20.	DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Derivative financial assets not under hedge accounting consists of the fair value of 
  foreign currency forward contracts and are analysed for reporting purpose 
  as follows:
  Current — 550

The derivatives were measured with reference to exchange rates from financial instruments for equivalent instruments.

The Group entered into several non-deliverable structured forward contracts (the “Forward Contracts”) denominated in 
US$ and RMB during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 with a bank. During the year ended 31 
December 2013, all structured forward contracts brought forward from 2012 and newly entered in 2013 have been 
terminated after criteria stated in the contracts met. As at 31 December 2013, no foreign exchange contract is 
outstanding.

The major terms of the foreign exchange contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Notional amount Maturity Predetermined exchange rates Notes

US$800,000 31 May 2012 to 7 May 2014 US$1: RMB6.34 (a)
US$300,000 28 September 2012 to 

  2 September 2014
US$1: RMB6.41 (b)

(a)	 Pursuant to the terms of the Forward Contract, on each of the 24 determination dates, the Group will have to sell 
US$800,000 against RMB at the predetermined exchange rate as disclosed above. If the Spot Rate is lower 
than the Condition, the Group will receive a gain of US$800,000 multiplied by the difference between the Spot 
Rate at the determination date and the predetermined exchange rate. This Forward Contract will be terminated 
on any determination date that the accumulative gain reaches RMB560,000.
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20.	DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)	  (Continued)

If the Spot Rate is higher than the predetermined exchange rate, the exposure of the Group is to pay the bank 
US$800,000 multiplied by the difference between the Spot Rate and the predetermined exchange rate for this 
Forward Contract. There is no cap on the exposure.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the forward contract has been terminated after the termination 
criteria are met.

(b)	 Pursuant to the terms of the forward contract, on each of the 24 determination dates, the Group will have to sell 
US$300,000 against RMB at the predetermined exchange rate as disclosed above. If the Spot Rate is lower 
than the Condition, the Group will receive a gain of US$300,000 multiplied by the difference between the Spot 
Rate at the determination date and the predetermined exchange rate. This Forward Contract will be terminated 
on any determination date that the accumulative gain reaches RMB150,000.

If the Spot Rate is higher than the predetermined exchange rate, the exposure of the Group is to pay the bank 
US$300,000 multiplied by the difference between the Spot Rate and the predetermined exchange rate for this 
Forward Contract. There is no cap on the exposure.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the forward contract has been terminated after the termination 
criteria are met.

The loss arising from change in fair value of the foreign currency contract for the year ended 31 December 2012 was 
approximately HK$150,000 (2013: nil).

21.	PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 December 2012, pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities 
granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to HK$3,000,000 had been pledged to secure bank overdrafts, short-term 
bank loans and undrawn facilities, and were therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits have 
been withdrawal during the year ended 31 December 2013.

The bank balances and cash comprise of cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less. The bank balances for the year ended 31 December 2013 carried interest at the prevailing 
market rate ranging from 0.001 % to 0.6 % per annum (2012: 0.001% to 0.6% per annum). The pledged deposits 
carried interest rate ranged from 0.15% to 0.20% per annum during the year ended 31 December 2012.

The Group’s bank balances and cash denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$12,594,000 at 31 
December 2013 (2012: HK$6,944,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign 
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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22.	TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 10,919 19,686
Receipt in advance 1,528 1,414
Other payables 23,949 17,631

36,396 38,731

(i)	 An aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 90 days 10,008 18,966
91 to 365 days 313 637
Over 365 days 598 83

10,919 19,686

The average credit period on purchase of goods is from 30 days to 90 days. The Group has financial risk 
management policies or plans for its payables with respect to the credit timeframe.

(ii)	 Receipt in advance represented advance payments of related sales of goods from customers pursuant to the 
respective sales contracts.

(iii)	 Included in trade and other payables in the consolidated statement of financial position are mainly the following 
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 11,077 15,985
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23.	AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amounts is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

24.	BANK BORROWINGS

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured:
  Machinery loan (Note i) 16,245 22,831
  Other bank loan (Note ii) 1,800 3,000

18,045 25,831

Bank borrowings repayable*:
  Within one year 7,786 7,786
  More than one year but not exceeding two years 7,186 7,786
  More than two years but not exceeding five years 3,073 10,259

18,045 25,831

Less: �Carrying amount of bank loans that are not repayable within one year from 
      the end of the reporting period but contain a repayment on demand 
      clause (shown under current liabilities) (10,259) (18,045)
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities (7,786) (7,786)

Amount shown under non-current liabilities — —

*	 The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

Notes:

(i)	 At 31 December 2013, machinery loans of approximately HK$16,245,000 (2012: HK$22,831,000) which carries floating 
rate at 1 month HIBOR plus 1.1% per annum will be fully repaid in September 2016. The facilities contain a repayment on 
demand clause.

(ii)	 At 31 December 2013, the other bank loan approximately HK$1,800,000 (2012: HK$3,000,000) was raised under the 
Special Loan Guarantee Scheme (“Special loan”) of Hong Kong, which carries floating-rate at 1 month HIBOR plus 1.25% per 
annum, repayable in 60 installments commencing on 31 July 2010. The Special loan will be fully repaid by 31 August 2015. 
80% of the principal amount of the special bank loan is guaranteed by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Regions. The guarantee has been released and a repayment on demand clause has been added during the years ended 31 
December 2013 and 2012.
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24.	BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Company provided guarantees in relation to other bank loan and banking 
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries.

At 31 December 2013, the Group has unused banking facilities of HK$153,000,000 (2012: HK$74,000,000).

25.	OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its motor vehicles under finance leases. The average lease term of these 
leases is five years (2012: five years).

At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum lease payments under finance leases and their present 
values were as follows:

Minimum lease payments
Present value of minimum 

lease payments

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable under finance leases:
  Within one year 283 283 244 231
  More than one year, but not more than 
    two years 283 283 256 244
  More than two years, but not more than 
    five years 472 755 453 709

1,038 1,321 953 1,184
Less: Future finance charges (85) (137) — —

Present value of lease obligations 953 1,184 953 1,184

Less: Amounts due within one year shown 
      under current liabilities (244) (231)

Amounts due after one year 709 953

All obligations under finance leases of the Group bear interest at fixed interest rates. The underlying interest rates of 
these obligations under finance leases are ranged from 2.9% to 4.7% per annum during the year ended 31 December 
2013 (2012: 2.9% to 4.37% per annum). The Group’s obligation under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s 
charge over the leased assets. These leases had no terms of renewal or purchase options and escalation clauses.

All obligations under finance leases are denominated in HK$.
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26.	DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement is deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

Difference between 
depreciation allowance 

and related depreciation
HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 (94)
Credited to consolidated statement of other comprehensive income during the year (note 12) 40

At 31 December 2012 (54)
Charged to consolidated statement of other comprehensive income during the year (note 12) (122)

At 31 December 2013 (176)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries 
from 1 January 2008 onwards (the “Post-2008 Earnings”). Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the 
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to the Post-2008 Earnings amounting 
to approximately HK$1,658,000 (2012: HK$1,485,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

27.	SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares Share capital

’000 HK$’000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at 1 January 2012, 
  31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 10,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at 1 January 2012, 
  31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 416,000 4,160
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28.	RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a defined 
contribution plan and the assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the 
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by 
employees, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$25,000 (HK$20,000 prior to June 2012). 
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately and there were no forfeited contributions of the MPF Scheme during 
both years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary established in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit 
schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll 
to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement 
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The Group made contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of approximately HK$896,000 for the year ended 
31 December 2013 (2012: HK$884,000).

29.	OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

The Group leases certain of its factory premises and offices under operating lease arrangements. Lease for properties 
are negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years and rentals are fixed. The Group does not have an option to 
purchase the leased assets at the expiry of the lease period.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
lease which fall due as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,835 2,590
In the second to fifth year inclusive 5,175 —

9,010 2,590
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30.	CAPITAL COMMITMENT

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated 
  financial statements in respect of acquisition of plant and equipment 354 1,734

Capital expenditure authorised but not contracted for in respect of:
  Investment of equity interest in an unlisted entity (note 36(c)) 187,355 —
  Establishment of a subsidiary 272,300 —

459,655 —

31.	CONTINGENT LIABILITY

On 16 November 2011, the High Court made a judgement (the “Judgement”) in favour of a subsidiary of the Group 
to dismiss a claim from a supplier (the “Supplier”).

On 23 July 2012, the Supplier has filed a notice of appeal against the Judgement (the “Appeal”) and the Appeal was 
heard on 8 March 2013.

On 14 March 2013, the Court of Appeal ordered that the Appeal is allowed and the Judgement is set aside. The 
Court of Appeal also ordered that unless the dispute between the Supplier and the subsidiary of the Group can be 
settled by other means, the dispute should be remitted for a re-trial by another judge.

Based on the legal advice, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has meritorious defenses 
against the Supplier. Therefore no provision for this claim has been made in the consolidation financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2013.

32.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those balances with related parties disclosed in note 23, the Group has entered into the following 
significant transactions with related parties during the year.

(a)	 Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as 
follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 7,050 6,552
Post-employment benefits 95 70

7,145 6,622
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32.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)	 Compensation of key management personnel (Continued)

The remuneration of the directors and key management personnel is determined by the board of directors of the 
Company having regards to the performance of individuals and market trends.

(b)	 Other related parties transactions

Name of company Nature of transaction 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Long Rise Investment 
  Development Limited Rental charged therefrom 1,783 1,700

The above transactions were at terms determined and agreed by the Company and the relevant party.

33.	SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the Company on 11 October 2011, the Company has adopted 
a Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimise their performance 
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group. The Board of directors shall be entitled at any time on a business day within 
10 years commencing on the effective date of the Scheme to offer the grant of option to any eligible participants.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include (i) any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, 
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds interest or a subsidiary 
of such company (“Affiliate”); or (ii) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or discretionary trust the discretionary 
objects of which include any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser 
of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficiary owned by any director, employee, 
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective 
associates representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the 
closing price of the shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000 in such person in any 12-months 
period up to and including the date of each grant must be approved by the independent non-executive directors, but 
excluding any independent non-executive director who is a proposed grantee and any further grant of options must be 
approved by the shareholders of the Company.

No share options are granted since the adoption of the Scheme and during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 
2012.
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34.	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2013 2012
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current asset
  Investment in a subsidiary 81,370 81,370

Current assets
  Other receivables 2,209 254
  Amount due from subsidiaries (a) 32,100 29,192
  Bank balances and cash 347 7,711

34,656 37,157

Current liabilities
  Other payable 50 57
  Amount due to subsidiaries (a) 954 1,071

1,004 1,128

Net current assets 33,652 36,029

Net assets 115,022 117,399

Capital and reserves
  Share capital 4,160 4,160
  Reserves (b) 110,862 113,239

Total equity 115,022 117,399
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34.	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a)	 The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(b)	 Reserves

Share premium
Other reserve 

(Note)
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 January 2012 43,607 81,270 (9,995) 114,882
Loss for the year and total comprehensive 
  expense for the year — — (1,643) (1,643)

At 31 December 2012 43,607 81,270 (11,638) 113,239

Loss for the year and total comprehensive 
  expense for the year — — (2,377) (2,377)

At 31 December 2013 43,607 81,270 (14,015) 110,862

Note:	The other reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued for the acquisition of Wide 
Reach Limited (“Wide Reach”) and the consolidated net asset value of Wide Reach and its subsidiaries at the date of 
acquisition.

(c)	 Financial guarantee contracts

	 At 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Company had given guarantees to banks of certain subsidiaries in respect of their 
machinery loan, other loan and banking facilities as set out in note 24.

	 No provision for the Company’s obligation under the financial guarantee contracts has been made as it was not probable that 
the repayment of loans would be in default.
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35.	SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has the following subsidiaries, all of which adopted a financial years 
end date of 31 December 2013 and 2012:

Name of Company
Place of incorporation or 
establishment/operation

Issued and fully paid share 
capital/registered capital

Percentage of equity interest 
attributable to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
2013 2012 2013 2012

Wide Reach British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares US$3,000 100% 100% — — Investment holding

Fornton Knitting Company 
  Limited
  豐臨針織有限公司

Hong Kong Ordinary shares
  HK$10,000,000

— — 100% 100% Trading of knitwear

Nice Regent Industries Limited
  毅俊實業有限公司

Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 — — 100% 100% Sub-contracting of 
  knitted garments

Fornton Holdings Company 
  Limited
  豐臨控股有限公司

Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 — — 100% 100% Trading of knitwear 
and
  investment holding

Fung Ching
  東莞豐正針織有限公司
   (Note)

The PRC Registered capital 
  US$ 8,000,000

— — 100% 100% Manufacturing and 
  trading of knitwear

Fornton Apparel Company
   Limited

British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares US$1,000 — — 100% 100% Trading of knitwear

Bravo Magic Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares US$50,000 — — 100% — Inactive

Prokit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 — — 100% — Inactive

Peak Matrix Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares US$50,000 — — 100% — Inactive

King All Investment Group 
  Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 — — 100% — Inactive

Sino Top Capital Resources 
  Limited (“Sino Top”)

Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 — — 100% — Leasing of equipment

Note: Wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities issued subsisting at the end of both years or any time during both 
years.
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36.	EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i)	 On 13 January 2014, Sino Top entered into four letters of intent with four independent third parties in relation to 
the proposed finance leasing of coal mining related equipments with aggregate value of approximately 
HK$671,950,000 to be leased to them. Details of which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 13 
January 2014.

(ii)	 On 14 January 2014, the Group has established a wholly foreign owned enterprise (“WFOE”) named 山西華威
融資租賃有限公司 (Shanxi Huawei Finance Leasing Company Limited*) in the PRC. The principal activity of the 
WFOE is engaged in finance leasing business in the PRC. The registered capital of the WFOE is 
US$35,000,000 which is required to be paid up in full by 14 July 2014.

(iii)	 On 17 February 2014, the Company announced:

(a)	 a proposed share subdivision and change of board lot size by the way of subdivision of each of the issued 
and unissued shares of HK$0.01 in the share capital of the Company into two shares of HK$0.005 each. 
Upon the Share Subdivision becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the Company will be 
changed from HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to 
HK$100,000,000 divided into 20,000,000,000 subdivided shares of HK$0.005 each. The issued and 
fully paid shares will be changed from HK$4,160,000 divided into 416,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 
each to HK$4,160,000 divided into 832,000,000 subdivided shares of HK$0.005 each.

Upon the share subdivision becoming effective, the traded board lot size of the Company will be changed 
from 4,000 shares to 2,000 subdivided shares.

(b)	 a proposed placing of 300,000,000 new shares at HK$1.00 per share and placing of convertible bonds 
of approximately HK$900,000,000.

(c)	 a proposed investment of 8% equity interest in an unlisted entity at a consideration of approximately 
HK$187,355,000.

The shareholders of the Company approved the above proposals during a special general meeting of the 
Company held on 5 March 2014.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the 
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

Year ended 31 December

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

Turnover 310,867 400,035 326,624 356,122 304,499
Cost of sales (256,573) (323,989) (247,233) (273,113) (235,932)

Gross profit 54,294 76,046 79,391 83,009 68,567

Other operating income 4,240 5,457 3,933 6,421 6,260
Selling and distribution expenses (9,441) (9,567) (9,669) (13,589) (10,659)
Administrative and other expenses (56,118) (53,361) (57,051) (41,857) (37,077)
Finance costs (350) (641) (700) (407) (110)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (7,375) 17,934 15,904 33,577 26,981
Income tax credit/(expense) 186 (4,196) (4,823) (5,610) (4,774)

(Loss)/profit for the year (7,189) 13,738 11,081 27,967 22,207

Item that may be reclassified 
  subsequently to profit or loss:
  Exchange differences arising 
    on translation of foreign 
    operations and total other 
    comprehensive income/(expense) 561 565 2,411 (264) 20

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for 
  the year (6,628) 14,303 13,492 27,703 22,227

(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) 
  Basic and diluted (0.86) 1.65 1.68 4.48 3.56
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Year ended 31 December

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS 188,982 206,359 196,219 152,820 167,096
TOTAL LIABILITIES (56,369) (67,118) (71,281) (89,041) (56,320)

NET ASSETS 132,613 139,241 124,938 63,779 110,776
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